
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
 
TONY KOLE, individually and as  ) 
President and Manager of Ghost  )  
Industries, LLC, and GHOST      ) 
INDUSTRIES, LLC, an Illinois    ) 
limited liability company, ) 

  ) 
                    Plaintiffs, ) 

  )    
   v.      )   Civil Case No: 1:11-cv-03871 

  ) 
VILLAGE OF NORRIDGE, an Illinois) 
municipal corporation, RONALD A.)  
OPPEDISANO, individually and as ) 
President of the Village of     ) 
Norridge, JAMES J. JOBE, Chief  ) 
of Police of the Village of     ) 
Norridge, JUDITH D. BERNARDI,   ) 
Clerk of Village of Norridge,   )  
URSULA A. KUCHARSKI, DENNIS H.  ) 
STEFANOWICZ, DOMINIC SULIMOWSKI,)  
GREGORIO, AND ROBERT MARTWICK,  ) 
individually and as Trustees of ) 
the Village of the Norridge and ) 
MARK V. CHESTER, individually   ) 
and as Village Attorney of the  ) 
Village of Norridge,            ) 
        ) 
                    Defendants. ) 

COMPLAINT 

 NOW COME Plaintiffs, TONY KOLE, individually and as 

President of GHOST INDUSTRIES, LLC, and GHOST INDUSTRIES, LLC, 

an Illinois limited liability company, and by and through their 

undersigned counsel, WALTER P. MAKSYM, JR., and complaining of 

and seeking relief from Defendants, VILLAGE OF NORRIDGE, an 

Illinois municipal corporation, RONALD A. OPPEDISANO, President 

of the Village of Norridge, URSULA A. KUCHARSKI, DENNIS H. 

STEFANOWICZ, DOMINIC SULIMOWSKI, DOMINIC S. FALAGARIO, 

JACQUELINE GREGORIO, and ROBERT MARTWICK, individually and as 

Trustees of the Village of Norridge, JAMES J. JOBE, Chief of 
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Police of the Village of Norridge, JUDITH D. BERNARDI, Village 

Clerk of the Village of Norridge, and MARK V. CHESTER, Village 

Attorney of the Village of Norridge, and allege:  

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff TONY KOLE (“KOLE”) is a natural person, a 

citizen of the United States, a law-abiding resident of the 

County of Cook, State of Illinois individually and as President 

and sole owner of GHOST INDUSTRIES, LLC, an Illinois limited 

liability company, who, in such capacity, was and is entitled 

to, has done and continues to do business and engages in local, 

internet and interstate commerce as a duly federally licensed 

firearms and ammunition products dealer by the U.S. Department 

of Justice, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives 

(the “ATF”) pursuant to Title I, Gun Control Act of 1968 (the 

“GCA”), and the regulations issued thereunder (27 C.F.R., part 

478) (the “REGS”), 18 U.S.C. Chapt. 44 (the “FEDERAL LAW”), via 

Federal Firearms License No. 3-36-031-01-4B-02885 (the “FFL”), a 

copy which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. Further, at all 

times relevant KOLE has been possessed of a duly issued and 

valid State of Illinois Firearms Owner Identification Card (the 

“FOID CARD”) and was trained and experienced in the safety and 

use of various firearms or ammunition products.  

2. Plaintiff GHOST INDUSTRIES, LLC (“GHOST INDUSTRIES”), 

was at all times relevant, an Illinois limited liability company 

and a citizen of the United States, that has done and continues 

to do business at 7601 West Montrose Ave, Suite 2, in the 

Village of Norridge, Illinois (the “Premises”) and engages in 

local, internet and interstate commerce as a duly federally 

licensed firearms or ammunition products dealer by the ATF 

pursuant the GCA, the REGS, 18 U.S.C. Chapt. 44 and its FFL.  

3. Defendant VILLAGE OF NORRIDGE (the “VILLAGE”) is an 

Illinois municipal corporation organized under the laws of the 
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State of Illinois with offices located within the County of 

Cook, State of Illinois at 4000 N. Olcott Avenue, Norridge, 

Illinois. 

4. Defendant RONALD A. OPPEDISANO (the “PRESIDENT”), is, 

and was at all times relevant, the President of the Village of 

Norridge, and as such is responsible for executing, and 

administering its laws, ordinances, business licenses, customs, 

practices, and policies. In that capacity, he enforces the laws, 

customs, agreements, practices and policies complained of in 

this action. He is sued in both his individual and official 

capacities.  

5. Defendants URSULA A. KUCHARSKI, DENNIS H. STEFANOWICZ, 

DOMINIC SULIMOWSKI, DOMINIC S. FALAGARIO, JACQUELINE GREGORIO, 

and ROBERT MARTWICK, (the “TRUSTEES”), were at all times 

relevant, Trustees of the Village of Norridge, and as such were 

responsible for executing, and administering its laws, 

ordinances, customs, practices, and policies. In that capacity, 

they presently enforces the laws, customs, agreements, practices 

and policies complained of in this action. They are sued in 

their individual and official capacities. 

6. Defendant JAMES J. JOBE (the “CHIEF”), is and was at 

all times relevant, the Chief of Police of the Village of 

Norridge, and as such is responsible for executing, enforcing, 

and administering its laws, ordinances, customs, practices, and 

policies. In that capacity, he also presently enforces the laws, 

ordinances, customs, agreements, practices and policies 

complained of in this action. He is sued in his individual and 

official capacities. 

7. Defendant JUDITH D. BERNARDI (the “VILLAGE CLERK”), 

is, and was at all times relevant, the Village Clerk of the 

Village of Norridge, and as such is responsible for executing, 

enforcing, and administering its laws, ordinances, customs, 

Case: 1:11-cv-03871 Document #: 1 Filed: 06/07/11 Page 3 of 64 PageID #:3



	   4 

agreements, practices, and policies. In that capacity, she 

implements and maintains the laws, customs, practices and 

policies complained of in this action. She is sued in her 

individual and official capacities. 

8. Defendant MARK V. CHESTER (the “VILLAGE ATTORNEY”), 

is, and at all times relevant was, a licensed Illinois attorney 

who had a primary practice in, inter alia, governmental 

litigation and municipal law, and served as the chief legal 

counsel for the VILLAGE, and as such has been and is responsible 

for executing, enforcing, and prosecuting its laws, ordinances, 

customs, practices, and policies and collecting sums that may be 

claimed, due or owing under the VILLAGE’S ordinances. In that 

capacity, he drafts, defends, enforces the laws, customs, 

practices and policies complained of in this action. He is sued 

in his individual and official capacities. 

JURISDICTION 

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over 

Plaintiffs’ federal claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, 

2201, 2202, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, 15 U.S.C. § 1, 15 U.S.C. § 15. 

Pendent jurisdiction exists pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

VENUE 

10. Venue lies and is proper in the Eastern District of 

Illinois, Eastern Division pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) 

because all Plaintiffs reside within this District within and 

their claims all arise from conduct of the Defendants, as herein 

complained of, that occurred in and about the County of Cook, 

State of Illinois, as is hereinafter more particularly alleged, 

and all of the Defendants reside in and do business within this 

District. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

11. Plaintiffs bring their claims against the Defendants 

seeking the recovery of their lost profits, damages, equitable, 
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declaratory, and other relief under, inter alia, 18 U.S.C. § 

1983 et. seq., 42 U.S.C. § 1985 et. seq., 42 U.S.C. § 1988, et. 

seq., 15 U.S.C. § 1, et. seq., the First, Second, Fourth, Fifth 

and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, the 

Illinois Constitution and Illinois law.  

FACTS COMMON TO All CLAIMS 

 12. Recently, the U.S. Supreme Court rendered its landmark 

decisions in McDonald v. City of Chicago, ___ U.S. ___ (Slip. 

Opin. June 28, 2010) (“McDonald v. Chicago”) wherein it held 

that Chicago’s handgun ban violated the Second Amendment rights 

established in the Court's prior landmark decision in District 

of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570 (2008) (“Heller”), by 

finding and establishing that the Second Amendment to the United 

States is incorporated in the Fourteenth Amendment and therefore 

guarantees a fundamental personal right of citizens to keep and 

bear arms made applicable to the states and their political 

subdivisions, officers and employees, such as the Defendants 

hereto, noting that the right to keep and bear arms necessarily 

involves the right to purchase them, to keep them in a state of 

efficiency for use, and, as concomitant necessities, to purchase 

and provide ammunition suitable for such arms and to keep them 

in repair.  

13. At all times relevant, the GCA, the REGS, 18 U.S.C. 

Chapt. 44 governed the licensure of Federal Firearms Dealers and 

was, at all times relevant, applicable to the States under 

Article VI of the United States Constitution, which states, 

inter alia, “This Constitution, and the Laws of the United 

States … shall be the supreme law of the Land; and the Judges in 

every State shall be bound thereby” (the “Supremacy Clause”). 

14. After the Supreme Court rendered its ruling in Heller 

and McDonald v. Chicago, Plaintiffs decided, after extensive 

research, to start a business selling firearms to law 
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enforcement officers, hunters, sportsmen, and other law-abiding 

citizens in the VILLAGE, a municipality adjacent to Chicago 

(it’s total ban on handguns was held unconstitutional in 

McDonald v. Chicago) that had an VILLAGE’S home-rule ordinance 

permitting weapons dealers superseded Cook County Ordinances. 

Prior to securing and leasing a commercial space, Plaintiffs 

contacted the VILLAGE in attempt to initiate dialog so as to 

address any safety and other concerns. Thereafter, a VILLAGE 

representative then confirmed that engaging in such business was 

a permitted business and provided Plaintiffs with zoning 

requirements applicable to the premises that allow such business 

to operate at the premises they selected.  

15. That, at all time relevant, Defendants knew or should 

have known of, inter alia, the law well established and set 

forth in Heller, McDonald, the GCA, the REGS, 18 U.S.C. Chapt. 

44, and 15 U.S.C. § 7901 (the “Federal Law”). 

16. After relying on said confirmation and information, on 

or about November 16, 2010 Plaintiffs applied to the VILLAGE for 

issuance of a Weapons Dealers Business License under the 

Norridge, Illinois, Code of Ordinances, Chapter 22 - Businesses, 

Article VIII - Weapons Dealers (the “Original Weapons Dealer 

Ordinance”), a copy which is attached hereto as Exhibit “B”, 

seeking to obtain weapons dealer business licenses to permit 

Plaintiffs, as a duly licensed federal firearms or ammunition 

products dealers, to open and operate a gun shop at 7601 W. 

Montrose Ave, Suite 2, within the Village of Norridge and 

executed a lease for the premises and waited processing of their 

FFL application by the ATF and their weapons dealer business 

licenses by the VILLAGE.  

17. On or about November 2, 2010 the ATF arranged a 

routine inspection of the leased premises so that it could issue 

a FFL to Plaintiffs. When en route to the ATF inspection, 
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Plaintiffs were informed by the ATF that the inspection was 

cancelled because the VILLAGE had refused to give a routine “OK” 

to proceed and its representative delayed issuance of a license 

and told Plaintiffs that the PRESIDENT and TRUSTEES, who were or 

should have been familiar with the law previously established in 

Heller, McDonald v. Chicago, and said Federal Law, would not be 

allowed transfers on said premises.  

18. Thereafter, Plaintiffs caused a letter to be sent to 

the VILLAGE demanding compensation for the financial damages 

Plaintiffs business had suffered. The letter was ignored. 

19. Shortly thereafter, the VILLAGE ATTORNEY contacted 

Plaintiffs on behalf of the VILLAGE, the PRESIDENT and the 

TRUSTEES, acknowledging that their proposed business was a 

lawful permitted occupation, and told KOLE that, regardless of 

the of the fact it was legally permitted under the VILLAGE’S 

ordinance, the resistance and delay that the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT 

and TRUSTEES were putting up with respect to Plaintiffs becoming 

licensed by the ATF and the VILLAGE was because “they wanted to 

protect their political careers - God forbid something should 

ever happen”, and that the “reason this law was on the books is 

because a large retailer, K-Mart, had earlier approached the 

VILLIAGE, PRESIDENT and TRUSTEES, lobbying them to permit the 

sale of firearms and ammunition in the VILLAGE or else they 

would relocate their store which would cause the VILLAGE to lose 

tax revenues”, but, eventually, K-Mart voluntarily ceased 

selling and transferring firearms and ammunition, though the 

Original Weapons Dealer Ordinance remained in effect until 

February 11, 2011 and such business activities were, and 

continue to remain, lawful.  

20. On information and belief, at or about the time 

Plaintiffs applied for a weapons dealers license, the PRESIDENT, 

the TRUSTEES and their VILLAGE ATTORNEY entered into a 
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combination, conspiracy and scheme to devise a plan to use their 

offices in concerted action to circumvent the Supreme Court’s 

ruling in McDonald v. Chicago, the Supremacy Clause, hold 

Plaintiffs’ license application hostage and deter and prevent 

Plaintiffs from opening and conducting a lawful weapons dealers 

business in the VILLAGE and deliberately deny Plaintiffs’ their 

constitutional rights and ability to acquire, obtain, advertise 

for sale, market, keep and bear arms, as an unlawful condition 

for the approval of Plaintiffs’ application and issuance of a 

Weapons Dealers Business License under the Original Weapons 

Dealer Ordinance and to make it impossible for them to conduct a 

profitable concern and eventually drive them out of business.  

21. As a result of the economic distress imposed on 

Plaintiffs caused by PRESIDENT, the TRUSTEES and their VILLAGE 

ATTORNEY’S conspiracy by their willful and intentional delay and 

refusal imposed on their efforts to commence a lawful business 

within the VILLAGE, achieve an AFT inspection and obtain a 

VILLAGE weapons dealers license, Plaintiffs were forced by the 

PRESIDENT, the TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as a prerequisite to 

doing business and obtaining such license to submit and 

capitulate to unlawful conditions and concessions not imposed on 

any other license applicant nor required by any of the VILLAGE’S 

ordinances or other law. 

22. Despite knowing such ultra vires lack of lawful 

authority, the VILLAGE ATTORNEY, on behalf of the VILLAGE, its 

PRESIDENT and TRUSTEES, demanded, under color of law and using 

their offices, as a unlawful condition for the approval of 

Plaintiffs’ application, licensure and doing business in the 

VILLAGE, and, in order to prevent Plaintiffs for doing business, 

drive them out of business and deprive them of their livelihood 

and, potentially, thousands of dollars per day of anticipated 

sales and profits thereby circumventing the Supreme Court’s 
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rulings in Heller and McDonald v. Chicago, the Supremacy Clause, 

Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights and the Federal Law, and 

deliberately deny Plaintiffs the ability to acquire, obtain, 

advertise for sale, market, keep and bear arms by willfully and 

intentionally withholding issuance of a Weapons Dealers Business 

License under the Original Weapons Dealer Ordinance, and not 

approving Plaintiffs’ application or issue such license, unless 

and until, without authority or any lawful consideration 

therefore, Plaintiffs would execute an “Agreement Between the 

Village of Norridge & Ghost Industries, LLC” (the “ULTRA VIRES 

AGREEMENT”), a copy of which attached hereto as Exhibit “C”, 

conditioning Plaintiffs’ doing business, obtaining and exercising 

the rights he enjoyed as a federally licensed firearms or 

ammunition products dealer only upon their execution and 

compliance with additional terms, conditions and restrictions and 

waiver of their constitutional rights provided for therein, never 

before imposed by law or upon any other licensee.  

23. Having no recourse and facing the certain and 

unavoidable prospect of VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT AND TRUSTEES’ 

continued unlawful delay and withholding of the processing and 

approval of Plaintiffs’ application, licensure and doing 

business in the VILLAGE application, and improperly undermine 

and cause withholding and approval of their ATF application and 

issuance of FFL and forestall and prevent their ability and 

right to engage in and lawfully do business in the VILLAGE, 

Plaintiffs, while laboring under such economic distress and not 

knowing that the VILLAGE, the VILLAGE PRESIDENT, VILLAGE 

TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY were, on information and belief, 

conspiring, planning and plotting to revise their then existing 

Weapons Dealers Ordinance, reluctantly succumbed to signing the 

following unlawful restrictive ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT on November 

29, 2010 in order to have the ATF conduct the necessary 
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inspection of their premises in order to obtain their FFL and 

get their business open and operating that, arbitrarily, 

capriciously, unreasonably and without lawful consideration, 

unconstitutionally, in the nature of a prohibited special 

legislation requirement not then contained in any VILLAGE 

ordinance, inter alia:  

a. imposed a total ban on physical deliveries of firearms 
or ammunition on the premises - not even to Law 
Enforcement; and requiring that all deliveries sent 
from the Plaintiffs’ premises be by unmarked packaging 
if the delivery is of a "used" firearm and shall be 
delivered in original packaging as provided by the 
manufacturer, wholesaler, or distributor if it is a 
"new" firearm and be in secure packaging sent via post 
office or courier to a licensed federal firearms 
dealer (FFD); 
 

b. imposed a ban on storage of ammunition or firearms on 
the premises thereby requiring Plaintiffs needed to 
first receive payment from a customer, then order a 
weapon from their supplier, receive it, inventory, 
label and rush to send it out the same day; by 
prohibiting Plaintiffs from storing firearms or 
ammunition on the Premises overnight or longer than 
twelve (12) hours during any day and that any firearms 
in Plaintiffs’ inventory on the premises will either 
be disabled by a locking device made for use on 
firearms or secured in a locked cabinet; 
 

c. imposed a total ban on the commercial display of 
Plaintiffs’ lawful products by prohibiting Plaintiffs 
from maintaining a sales or retail display of any 
firearms or ammunition on the premises; 
 

d. prohibited Plaintiffs from posting or erecting any 
exterior signage indicating to the public that its 
offices are located on the premises or indicating the 
business of Plaintiffs (i.e. weapons sales), requiring 
the limitation interior signage to that required by 
state and federal law and only allowing Plaintiffs to 
put its name on one or more interior door to premises; 
 

e. required Plaintiffs to ensure that the only authorized 
person to receive shipments of firearms and ammunition 
on behalf of Plaintiffs will be its President and 
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Owner (until Plaintiffs can afford to employ others 
that pass a Criminal Background Investigation and any 
other applicable requirements of the United States, 
the state of Illinois, and any other jurisdiction 
having authority over the premises); 
 

f. required that all of Plaintiffs officers and employees 
on the premises submit to an annual Criminal 
Background Investigation; 

 
g. required that, without any lawful authority or 

consideration, Plaintiffs provide the VILLAGE with 
such releases as are necessary to effectuate the 
investigation; 
 

h. required that Plaintiffs install and maintain a video 
surveillance system at their expense to record and 
monitor its office within the limits of its lease 
agreement for the premises; 
 

i. required that Plaintiffs “voluntarily” offer its 
President, KOLE, and all of its employees for a 
fingerprinting by the VILLAGE Police;  
 

i. limited the amount of firearms and ammunition 
Plaintiffs could receive per month; 

 
j. limited Plaintiffs’ license term to two (2) years; 
 
k. limited the amount of firearms and ammunition 

Plaintiffs received per month by requiring that 
Plaintiffs agree to receive no more than forty (40) 
long guns or hand guns at the Premises per month for 
the first twelve (12) months following the date of the 
ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and the above-referenced amounts 
shall increase by ten (10) percent twelve (12) months, 
and twenty four (24) months thereafter, and to have no 
more than twenty (20) firearms in the premises at 
anyone time; 
 

l. required that Plaintiffs agree to receive no more than 
four thousand (4,000) rounds per month for the first 
twelve (12) months following the date of the ULTRA 
VIRES AGREEMENT and the above-referenced amounts shall 
increase by ten (10) percent twelve (12) months and 
twenty four (24) months thereafter, and to have no 
more than one thousand (1,000) rounds on the premises 
at anyone time. Provided, however, larger quantities 
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(not in excess of the monthly amount) may be on the 
premises for no longer than one (1) hour after they 
are delivered from the distributor, wholesaler or 
manufacturer; 
 

m. Required Plaintiffs to abide by all local, state and 
federal laws governing its business including, but not 
limited to Chapter 22, Article VIII of the VILLAGE 
Code of Ordinances - 2002, as may be amended from time 
to time, so that the VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT AND 
TRUSTEES could implement their conspiracy to drive 
Plaintiff out of business by enacting an 
unconstitutional revised weapons dealer ordinance, 
that, inter alia, arbitrarily dictated that VILLAGE’S 
only current weapons dealer, licensee (Plaintiffs) 
must cease doing business no later than April 30, 
2013. 
 

n. imposed random and unannounced inspections of 
Plaintiffs’ premises by VILLAGE Police by requiring 
that Plaintiffs submit, without prior notice, to one 
(1) random and unannounced on-site inspection of the 
premises per month by the VILLAGE inspectors or police 
at any time during regular business hours or whenever 
the Premises are occupied, in each case solely to 
monitor compliance with the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and, 
additionally, requiring that Plaintiffs will allow two 
(2) such on-site inspections per month during regular 
business hours which must be scheduled with Plaintiffs 
at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance; 
 

o. required that the VILLAGE will only renew Plaintiffs’ 
license twice annually provided that Plaintiffs remain 
in compliance with the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and to 
exempt Plaintiffs from any change in its business 
license ordinances and rules in any amendments the 
VILLAGE may make to its Code of Ordinances which 
directly or indirectly impacts Plaintiffs' business 
under the Weapons Dealer License granted by the 
VILLAGE and requiring that the VILLAGE on the event 
that the VILLAGE repeals its Weapons Dealer Ordinance 
within thirty six months of the execution of the ULTRA 
VIRES AGREEMENT, the VILLAGE will exempt the 
Plaintiffs from the repeal during that period; and 

 
p. required that in the event that Plaintiffs breach any 

of the conditions of the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT to do 
business as a weapons dealer in the VILLAGE and such 
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breach is not cured within three (3) business days 
after the VILLAGE'S delivery of written notice to the 
VILLAGE specifying the breach, its license will become 
forfeit and Plaintiffs will cease doing business under 
that license. 

 
 24.  As a result Plaintiffs fear prosecution under the 

REVISED ORDINANCE, arbitrary revocation of the license 

eventually issued them by the VILLAGE, as well as interference, 

prohibition and the unlawful elimination of their otherwise 

lawful business activities, and reprisals by the Defendants, 

should they undertake such conduct in and about the VILLAGE or 

with respect to their suppliers and customers that may in any 

way be considered or construed by Defendants to be a breach of 

said ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT or a violation of the REVISED 

ORDINANCE. 

25. Thereafter, on or about February 11, 2011 the VILLAGE, 

PRESIDENT and TRUSTEES, in order to willfully and intentionally 

circumvent the Supreme Court’s ruling in McDonald v. Chicago, 

the Supremacy Clause and the Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights 

and knowingly and deliberately deny Plaintiffs the ability to 

acquire, obtain, advertise for sale, market, keep and bear arms 

revised the Norridge Weapons Dealers Licensing Ordinance by, 

under color of law but without the authority thereof, 

arbitrarily, capriciously, unreasonably and without lawful 

unconstitutionally adopted and enacted “An Ordinance Repealing 

and Reenacting Chapter 22, Article VIII, and Amending Chapter 

38, Section 22 of the Revised Municipal Code of the Village of 

Norridge – 2002 An Ordinance Reenacting Weapons Dealers 

Licensing and Amending Associated Fees and Penalties, Ordinance 

No. 1697-11” (the “Revised Weapons Dealers Ordinance”), a copy 

of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “D”, the adoption of 

which was accompanied by the VILLAGE PRESIDENT stating, inter 

alia, “It's so strong, I don't think anybody would want to come 
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here. We only have the one weapons business here that we are 

aware of.” (referring to GHOST INDUSTRIES), and TRUSTEE 

FALAGARIO, stating, inter alia, referring to the VILLAGE, 

PRESIDENT and TRUSTEE as “we” and KOLE as “a fellow”. "We had a 

fellow who wanted to open a gun selling business and we said no 

way,"…. "We fought him on it. We went back and forth. Our 

ordinance was not enough to keep him out and now he has a gun 

selling business he opened last year in Norridge on conditions 

and we now have a much stronger ordinance." 

26. Plaintiffs, fearing prosecution under the REVISED 

ORDINANCE and being unable to operate their lawful business or 

fully use their FFL under the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT, after 

reviewing them and consulting with their corporate attorney, 

were advised that their only recourse was to retain a 

constitutional attorney for representation and institute 

litigation to redress and protect their rights.  

27. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants 

unlawful impositions, Plaintiffs business and the expansion 

thereof have essentially been severely confined to only 

conducting online sales and shipping from suppliers and other 

out of area dealers thereby resulting in the potential loss of 

tens of thousands of dollars of sales and thousands of dollars 

in profits per day. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 INFRINGEMENT OF  
PLAINTIFFS’ FUNDIMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS  
TO SELL, TRANSFER, ADVERTISE, MARKET, DEAL IN  

FIREARMS, KEEP AND BEAR ARMS AND OTHER RIGHTS GURANTEED  
BY U.S. CONST. AMENDS. I, II, IV, V & XIV AND FEDERAL LAW 

28. Plaintiffs, complaining of Defendants, and reallege 

and incorporate the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 27 as if 

fully stated herein.  

29. 42 U.SC. § 1983 provides in pertinent part, “Every 
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person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, 

custom, or usage, of any State …, subjects, or causes to be 

subjected, any … to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, 

or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be 

liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, 

or other proper proceeding for redress….” 

30. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution provides, in pertinent part: “No State shall make 

or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or 

immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State 

deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due 

process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction 

the equal protection of the laws.” 

31. Under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE 

deprive, or as applied, and will continue to deprive, Plaintiffs 

and their customers and prospective customers, their right to 

engage in commerce, businesses, liberty, and property, without 

due process of law or equal protection of the laws. 

32. Pursuant to Heller and McDonald v. Chicago, the Second 

Amendment right to keep and bear arms is a fundamental 

individual right and a privilege and immunity of United States 

citizenship pursuant to its incorporation under the Due Process 

Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, that applies to and may not 

be infringed by the states and their political subdivisions, 

officers and employees, such as the Defendants herein. 

33. Further, pursuant to Heller and McDonald v. Chicago, 

and the Federal Law, the sale and purchase of firearms by and 

between law-abiding adult citizens is protected by the Second 

Amendment right to keep and bear arms and may not be infringed.  

34. The VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and ATTORNEY by 

their ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE have and 
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continue to overly, unduly and unreasonably restrict Plaintiffs’ 

ability to conduct commercial sales, and the transfer of and/or 

the lawful acquisition of firearms and ammunition, lawful 

products, by Plaintiffs. 

35. Plaintiffs therefore maintain that the ULTRA VIRES 

AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE are vague, arbitrary, 

capricious, overly broad, unduly restrictive and infringes the 

fundamental right of the law-abiding citizens to sell, transfer, 

purchase and keep and bear arms, as is guaranteed by the Second 

Amendment of the Constitution of the United States, in that it 

contains, inter alia, the following unconstitutional 

prohibitions and restrictions on the sale, possession and use of 

firearms and ammunition products within said Village that are 

designed and intended not to reasonably regulate but to infringe 

on and unduly and unreasonably burdens, restricts and suppresses 

such free exercise of the fundamental right guaranteed by the 

Second Amendment of law-abiding citizens to keep and bear arms 

within the VILLAGE. 

36. The ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE 

arbitrarily, capriciously and unreasonably prohibited weapons 

dealers and other persons from selling, purchasing, 

transferring, dealing in, marketing, advertising or otherwise 

transferring firearms or ammunition, lawful products, in the 

VILLAGE, pursuant to federal law; with the intent and purpose of 

denying and interfering with the exercise of Plaintiffs’ 

fundamental Constitutional rights and federal firearm’s dealer’s 

licensure. 

37. The REVISED ORDINANCE and the provisions thereof are 

arbitrary, capricious, unduly and unreasonably burdensome, 

vague, overly broad or narrow and therefore deny due process and 

infringe on the right of law-abiding citizens in the VILLAGE to 

sell, advertise, transfer, purchase, keep and bear arms and is 
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unconstitutional because it unduly and unreasonably burdens, 

defeats and infringes upon Plaintiffs’ aforesaid fundamental 

rights as guaranteed under the U.S. Constitution, and 

impermissibly burdens interstate commerce and conflicts with 

federal law. 

38. Pursuant to McDonald v. Chicago, the holdings in 

Heller is applicable to, and the Second Amendment is 

incorporated in and made applicable by the Fourteenth Amendment 

to the states and these Defendants, guarantees individuals a 

fundamental right to sell, deal in, transfer, purchase, keep and 

bear firearms and ammunition products.  

39. Under Illinois statutory and case law all persons 

possessed of a valid Illinois FOID Card, including KOLE and 

Plaintiffs’ customers who have a FOID Card, may acquire by any 

lawful means as many firearms as they wish and may freely 

possess, transport and transfer them, along with ammunition, 

throughout Illinois, including the VILLAGES, for lawful 

purposes. 

40. By arbitrarily, capriciously and unreasonably imposing 

the obligations and limitations of the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE on Plaintiffs as aforesaid, including 

unlimited indemnification, the VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT and 

TRUSTEES and the VILLAGE ATTORNEY currently maintain and/or 

actively enforce a set of laws, customs, practices, and policies 

under color of state law that deprive Plaintiffs of their right 

to keep and bear arms, and engage in commerce by selling, 

transferring, possessing, using and dealing them, lawful 

products for protected purposes, and engage in a lawful business 

in violation of the First, Second, Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution and Federal Law.  

41.  The REVISED ORDINANCE adopted by the VILLAGE, its 

PRESIDENT and TRUSTEES is designed to illegally eliminate and 

Case: 1:11-cv-03871 Document #: 1 Filed: 06/07/11 Page 17 of 64 PageID #:17



	   18 

outlaw any and all weapons dealers within the VILLAGE. 

42. Plaintiffs verily believe that any further effort or 

request to have VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE 

ATTORNEY cease or forego enforcement of the ULTRA VIRES 

AGREEMENT or the REVISED ORDINANCE would be futile.  

43. As a result of the foregoing, Plaintiffs have been and 

will continue to be damaged in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 

are therefore entitled to declaratory and permanent injunctive 

relief against continued enforcement and maintenance of 

Defendants’ said unconstitutional ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT, REVISED 

ORDINANCE, customs, policies, and practices. 

44.  As a consequence of the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and the 

REVISED ORDINANCE’S inevitable unreasonable and unlawful total 

ban on the sales of lawful products, i.e., firearms, ammunition, 

and related accessories, in the Defendants and their defiance 

and circumvention of the Supreme Court’s rulings in Heller, 

McDonald v. Chicago and Federal Law, Plaintiffs will suffer 

damages including but not limited to a loss of profits, 

goodwill, and other general and economic damages as the proofs 

will show at trial. 

45. Pursuant to VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE 

ATTORNEY have and continue to, without lawful authority or 

probable cause by arbitrary and capricious use of the VILLAGE’S 

Police, repeatedly conduct suspicionless searches of and invade, 

disrupt and search Plaintiffs’ place of business, require the 

fingerprinting of KOLE, impose unlimited indemnification and 

liability in perpetuity and impose daily reporting requirements 

thereby causing interference with and rendering normal retail 

business extremely difficult if not impossible to conduct.  

46.  Plaintiffs desire to sell, transfer, market and 

advertise their lawful products that Defendants purport to limit 
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or prohibit under the VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE. 

47. Plaintiffs maintain that requiring them to conform 

with the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT or the REVISED ORDINANCE and the 

other above-referenced and complained of limitations, 

prohibitions, restrictions and requirements imposed upon them, 

that Defendants currently maintain and actively enforce are a 

set of laws, customs, practices, and policies under color of 

state law that deprive Plaintiffs and other individuals, their 

right to keep and bear arms, in violation of the Second and 

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. 

Plaintiffs are thus damaged in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

48. Plaintiffs assert that they can succeed on the merits 

because: 

a.  the First, Second, Fourth and Fifth Amendments as 
applied to the states and these Defendants via the 
Fourteenth Amendment, and said Federal Law is 
relatively clear as to what constitutes free 
commercial speech, the right deal in, sell, transfer 
and keep and bear arms. 

 
b. when the requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment and 

the Mathews v. Eldridge test (at 424 U.S. 319 (1976)) 
are applied to the facts in the instant matter, it is 
clear that Plaintiffs’ rights has been violated by 
state actors acting under color of law. 

 
c.  irreparable harm will result to Plaintiffs without 

injunctive relief, because Plaintiffs can show their 
business may collapse and KOLE will lose his 
livelihood and suffer the financial losses, including 
his investment of time and capital in Ghost 
Industries, should they be driven out of business by 
Defendants said unlawful and oppressive conduct. 

   
d. the balancing of harms between Defendants and the 

Plaintiffs reveal that the Defendants will not suffer 
any harm if they are restrained and enjoined fro 
enforcing said ULTRA VIRES ORDINANCE an REVISED 
ORDINANCE. 
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e. the impact on the public interest favors governmental 
policies that encourage Defendants to act in 
accordance with the United States Constitution and 
Federal Law.  

 
49. Plaintiffs therefore maintain that they are thus 

entitled to the return and restitution of damages, declaratory 

and permanent injunctive relief against continued enforcement 

and maintenance of Defendants’ unconstitutional customs, 

policies, and practices along with reasonable attorney fees and 

costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and 

permanently, Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of the injunction, from 

directly or indirectly by any means enforcing or prosecuting all 

of the provisions of the VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE; 

B. awarding Plaintiffs declaratory relief against the 

Defendants consistent with the injunction and declaring that the 

VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE be 

adjudged and decreed not to constitute reasonable or permissible 

lawful regulations or limitations, but rather to be against 

public policy and violative of Amendments I, II, IV, XIV and the 

Due Process and Takings Clauses of the United States 

Constitution, thus rendering them unconstitutional, null and 

void ab initio, and unenforceable. 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs damages against the VILLAGE, 

PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY including but not 

limited to their loss of profits, loss of goodwill, and other 

general and economic damages, as their proofs will justify at 

trial; 
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D.  awarding Plaintiffs reasonable attorney fees and costs 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

E.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 IMPOSITION OF UNLAWFUL  
BURDEN ON INTERSTATE COMMERCE – INFRINGEMENT OF  

PLAINTIFF’S FUNDIMENTAL RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE, MARKET,  
TRANSFER, KEEP AND BEAR ARMS UNDER ARTICLE I, § 8, CL. 3, 
ARTICLE VI OF THE U.S. CONST. AMENDS. I, II, IV, V & XIV 

               

 50. Plaintiffs, complaining of all Defendants, reallege and 

incorporate paragraphs 1 through 49 of their First Claim, as 

though fully stated herein. 

 51. Defendant’s ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE, 

limitations and policies as aforesaid affect interstate commerce 

however they do not pursue and are not rationally related to a 

legitimate state concern and undue and unreasonable burden on 

interstate commerce and their objectives could be achieved by 

less restrictive means and the regulatory burden imposed on the 

interstate commerce are not outweighed by a legitimate interest 

in enforcing its regulation of Plaintiffs’ rights to do business 

under their federal firearms license and be encouraged to 

participate in free market interstate commerce.  

52. The ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE 

further conflict, interfere with, and/or are preempted by 

federal law, i.e. Federal Firearms Act of 1938, as amended, [Ch. 

850, 52 Stat. 1252], 18 U.S.C. Ch. 44, and 15 U.S.C. § 7901 that 

provide: 

(a) Findings  
Congress finds the following:  
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(1) The Second Amendment to the United States 
Constitution provides that the right of the people to keep 
and bear arms shall not be infringed.  

(2) The Second Amendment to the United States 
Constitution protects the rights of individuals, including 
those who are not members of a militia or engaged in 
military service or training, to keep and bear arms.  

(3) Lawsuits have been commenced against 
manufacturers, distributors, dealers, and importers of 
firearms that operate as designed and intended, which seek 
money damages and other relief for the harm caused by the 
misuse of firearms by third parties, including criminals. 

(4) The manufacture, importation, possession, sale, 
and use of firearms and ammunition in the United States are 
heavily regulated by Federal, State, and local laws. Such 
Federal laws include the Gun Control Act of 1968, the 
National Firearms Act [26 U.S.C. 5801 et seq.], and the 
Arms Export Control Act [22 U.S.C. 2751 et seq.].  

(5) Businesses in the United States that are engaged 
in interstate and foreign commerce through the lawful 
design, manufacture, marketing, distribution, importation, 
or sale to the public of firearms or ammunition products 
that have been shipped or transported in interstate or 
foreign commerce are not, and should not, be liable for the 
harm caused by those who criminally or unlawfully misuse 
firearm products or ammunition products that function as 
designed and intended.  

(6) The possibility of imposing liability on an entire 
industry for harm that is solely caused by others is an 
abuse of the legal system, erodes public confidence in our 
Nation’s laws, threatens the diminution of a basic 
constitutional right and civil liberty, invites the 
disassembly and destabilization of other industries and 
economic sectors lawfully competing in the free enterprise 
system of the United States, and constitutes an undue and 
unreasonable burden on interstate and foreign commerce of 
the United States.  

(7) The liability actions commenced or contemplated by 
the Federal Government, States, municipalities, and private 
interest groups and others are based on theories without 
foundation in hundreds of years of the common law and 
jurisprudence of the United States and do not represent a 
bona fide expansion of the common law. The possible 
sustaining of these actions by a maverick judicial officer 
or petit jury would expand civil liability in a manner 
never contemplated by the framers of the Constitution, by 
Congress, or by the legislatures of the several States. 
Such an expansion of liability would constitute a 
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deprivation of the rights, privileges, and immunities 
guaranteed to a citizen of the United States under the 
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  

(8) The liability actions commenced or contemplated by 
the Federal Government, States, municipalities, private 
interest groups and others attempt to use the judicial 
branch to circumvent the Legislative branch of government 
to regulate interstate and foreign commerce through 
judgments and judicial decrees thereby threatening the 
Separation of Powers doctrine and weakening and undermining 
important principles of federalism, State sovereignty and 
comity between the sister States.  

(b) Purposes  
The purposes of this chapter are as follows:  
(1) To prohibit causes of action against 

manufacturers, distributors, dealers, and importers of 
firearms or ammunition products, and their trade 
associations, for the harm solely caused by the criminal or 
unlawful misuse of firearm products or ammunition products 
by others when the product functioned as designed and 
intended.  

(2) To preserve a citizen’s access to a supply of 
firearms and ammunition for all lawful purposes, including 
hunting, self-defense, collecting, and competitive or 
recreational shooting.  

(3) To guarantee a citizen’s rights, privileges, and 
immunities, as applied to the States, under the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the United States Constitution, pursuant to 
section 5 of that Amendment.  

(4) To prevent the use of such lawsuits to impose 
unreasonable burdens on interstate and foreign commerce.  

(5) To protect the right, under the First Amendment to 
the Constitution, of manufacturers, distributors, dealers, 
and importers of firearms or ammunition products, and trade 
associations, to speak freely, to assemble peaceably, and 
to petition the Government for a redress of their 
grievances.  

(6) To preserve and protect the Separation of Powers 
doctrine and important principles of federalism, State 
sovereignty and comity between sister States.  

(7) To exercise congressional power under article IV, 
section 1 (the Full Faith and Credit Clause) of the United 
States Constitution. 
  

and otherwise impedes the objectives of federal law and violates 

the Dormant Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution. 

53. Pursuant to VILLAGE’S unconstitutional ULTRA VIRES 
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AGREEMENT Plaintiffs place of business was thereafter illegally 

invaded and searched by the VILLAGE’S Police. 

54. Plaintiffs maintain that requiring them to comply with 

the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE limitations, 

obligations, prohibitions, restrictions and requirements are a 

set of laws, customs, practices, and policies under color of 

state law that deprive Plaintiffs and other individuals, their 

right to keep and bear arms, in violation of, inter alia, the 

First, Second, Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution thus having damaged Plaintiffs in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.  

55. Plaintiffs therefore maintain that they are thus 

entitled to the return and restitution of damages, declaratory 

and permanent injunctive relief against continued enforcement 

and maintenance of Defendants’ unconstitutional customs, 

policies, and practices along with reasonable attorney fees and 

costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and permanently, 

Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and all 

persons in active concert or participation with them who receive 

actual notice of the injunction, from directly or indirectly by 

any means enforcing or prosecuting all of the provisions of the 

ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE; 

 B. awarding Plaintiffs declaratory relief against 

Defendants consistent with the injunction and declaring, inter 

alia, that the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE do 

not constitute reasonable or permissible lawful regulations but, 

rather, is against public policy and violative of the First, 

Second, Fourth, Fifth, Fourteenth Amendments and Due Process and 

takings clauses of the United States Constitution rendering them 
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unconstitutional, void ab initio, and unenforceable. 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

D.  awarding Plaintiffs reasonable attorney fees and costs 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

E.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 ABRIDGEMENT OF PLAINTIFFS’ 
FUNDIMENTAL FIRST AMENDMENT CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS BY  

PRIOR RESTRAINT OF PLAINTIFF’S EXERCISE OF COMMERCIAL SPEECH 

56. Plaintiffs, complaining of all Defendants, reallege 

and incorporate paragraphs 1 through 55 of their Second Claim, 

as though fully stated herein. 

57. In violation of 42 U.S.C. 1983, the VILLAGE its 

PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY, under color of law, by 

the imposition of the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED 

ORDINANCE and other acts aforesaid intended to and did impose 

and continue to impose an unlawful prior restraint on 

Plaintiffs’ commercial speech and thereby abridging their First 

Amendment rights.  

58. The VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE 

ATTORNEY did thereby harm and continue to harm Plaintiffs and 

that such harm includes loss of profits, good will and other 

ongoing damages. 

59. Plaintiffs’ injuries were proximately caused by said 

Defendants’ actions and policy-level decisions, including the 

custom and practice of deliberate indifference and efforts to 

thwart their rights by preventing them from engaging in and 
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driving them out of a lawful business licensed by Federal Law.  

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A. finding and decreeing that the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT 

be adjudged and decreed, inter alia, not to constitute 

reasonable, or permissible lawful regulations or limitations, 

but rather, to be lacking lawful or sufficient consideration, 

oppressive, against public policy and violative of the Illinois 

Constitution and public policy, thus rendering it illegal, null 

and void ab initio, and unenforceable;  

B. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and 

permanently, Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of the injunction, from 

directly or indirectly by any means enforcing or prosecuting all 

of the provisions of the VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE; and enjoining and restraining Defendants, 

pendant lite and permanently, from placing any prior restraint 

upon Plaintiffs’ exercise of commercial speech or otherwise 

interfering or preventing Plaintiffs from displaying any 

signage, advertising or identifying or providing commercial 

information in or about their commercial premises promoting or 

relating to their business.  

C. awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

D.  awarding Plaintiffs reasonable attorney fees and costs 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

E.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against all Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in 
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the premises. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 ABRIDGMENT OF 
PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST AMEMDMENT RIGHTS 
BY RETALIATION FOR THEIR ATTEMPT TO 
EXERCISE PROTECTED COMMERCIAL SPEECH 

 
 60. Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1 through 59 of their 

Third Claim by reference, as if fully set forth herein. 

 61. Under color of law, the VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES 

and VILLAGE ATTORNEY willfully and intentionally combined, 

conspired in concert to and did deprive Plaintiffs of their 

aforesaid rights under the U.S. Constitution and Federal Law in 

retaliation for Plaintiffs having been persistent in their 

attempt to exercise them in connection with their pursuit lawful 

business they disapproved. 

62.  The VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE 

ATTORNEY did thereby harm and continue to harm Plaintiffs and 

that such harm includes loss of profits, good will and other 

ongoing damages. 

63. Plaintiffs’ injuries were proximately caused by said 

Defendants’ actions and policy-level decisions, including the 

custom and practice of deliberate indifference and efforts to 

thwart their rights by preventing them from engaging in and 

driving them out of a lawful business licensed by Federal Law. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and 

permanently, Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of the injunction, from 

directly or indirectly by any means enforcing or prosecuting all 

of the provisions of the VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE; 
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B. awarding Plaintiffs declaratory relief against 

Defendants consistent with the injunction and declaring, inter 

alia, that the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE do 

not constitute reasonable or permissible lawful regulations but, 

rather, is against public policy and violative of the First, 

Second, Fourth, Fifth, Fourteenth Amendments and Due Process and 

takings clauses of the United States Constitution rendering them 

unconstitutional, void ab initio, and unenforceable. 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

D.  awarding Plaintiffs reasonable attorney fees and costs 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

E.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises.  

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 UNLAWFUL RESTRAINT 
OF TRADE IN RETALIATION FOR PLAINTIFF’S 

ATTEMPT TO EXERCISE THEIR FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS 
TO ADVERTISE, SELL, TRANSFER, MARKET AND KEEP AND 
BEAR ARMS UNDER U.S. CONST. ART. I, § 8, CL. 3 AND 
ART. VI AND U.S. CONST. AMENDS. I, II, IV, V & XIV 

64. Plaintiffs, complaining of all Defendants, reallege 

and incorporate paragraphs 1 through 63 of their Fourth Claim, 

as though fully stated herein.  

65. The VILLAGE, VILLAGE PRESIDENT, VILLAGE TRUSTEES and 

VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S conduct under color of law and their 

offices, as aforesaid, constituted and continues to constitute 

an unlawful restraint of trade in retaliation for Plaintiff’s 

attempt to exercise their fundamental rights to acquire, market, 

keep and bear arms under ARTICLE I, § 8, CL. 3, ARTICLE VI of 
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the U.S. CONST. and U.S. CONST. AMENDS. I, II, IV, V & XIV in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and permanently, 

Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and all 

persons in active concert or participation with them who receive 

actual notice of the injunction, from directly or indirectly by 

any means enforcing or prosecuting all of the provisions of the 

VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE; 

B. awarding Plaintiffs declaratory relief against 

Defendants consistent with the injunction and declaring, inter 

alia, that the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE do 

not constitute reasonable or permissible lawful regulations but, 

rather, is against public policy and violative of the First, 

Second, Fourth, Fifth, Fourteenth Amendments and Due Process and 

takings clauses of the United States Constitution rendering them 

unconstitutional, void ab initio, and unenforceable. 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profits, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

D.  awarding Plaintiffs reasonable attorney fees and costs 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

E.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises. 

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
42 U.S.C. § 1985 CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 

PLAINTIFF’S FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS TO ADVERTISE, SELL, 
TRANSFER, MARKET AND KEEP AND BEAR ARMS UNDER ARTICLE I, § 8, 

CL. 3, ARTICLE VI OF THE U.S. CONST. AMENDS. I, II, IV, V & XIV 
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66. Plaintiffs, complaining of all Defendants, reallege 

and incorporate paragraphs 1 through 65 of their Fifth Claim, as 

though fully stated herein. 

67.  On information and belief, the VILLAGE PRESIDENT, 

TRUSTEES and ATTORNEY, individually and in combination and 

conspiracy with each other in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985, by 

their overt acts committed set forth above, in order to, by 

their concerted action, restrain trade, violate and infringe 

Plaintiff’s fundamental rights to acquire, market, keep and bear 

arms under Article I, § 8, cl. 3, Article VI of the U.S. Const., 

Amends. I, II, IV, V & XIV, thereby causing them the loss of 

liberty and other losses as hereinabove described.  

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and 

permanently, Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of the injunction, from 

directly or indirectly by any means enforcing or prosecuting all 

of the provisions of the VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE; 

B. awarding Plaintiffs declaratory relief against 

Defendants consistent with the injunction and declaring, inter 

alia, that the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE do 

not constitute reasonable or permissible lawful regulations but, 

rather, is against public policy and violative of the First, 

Second, Fourth, Fourteenth Amendments and Due Process and 

takings clauses of the United States Constitution rendering them 

unconstitutional, void ab initio, and unenforceable. 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 
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the proofs will show at trial; 

D.  awarding Plaintiffs reasonable attorney fees and costs 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

E.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises. 

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 MONELL CLAIM 

68. Plaintiffs, complaining of all Defendants, reallege 

and incorporate paragraphs 1 through 67 of their Sixth Claim, as 

though fully stated herein. 

 69. On information and belief, the PRESIDENT and TRUSTEES 

were, by operation of state law and as a matter of fact, the 

final decision makers with regard to actions and decisions that 

they made and/or participated in by them as hereinabove alleged. 

 70. That said acts and decisions directly and proximately 

caused the constitutional violations, lost profits, loss of good 

will, and other injuries and damages to Plaintiffs and their 

business as hereinabove alleged and are directly chargeable to 

Defendant VILLAGE because of the PRESIDENT and TRUSTEES status 

as its final decision makers.  

 71. The VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE 

ATTORNEY’S said actions, policies, practices, and customs 

directly and proximately caused the constitutional violations 

and injuries to Plaintiffs, thereby making them directly 

chargeable to the VILLAGE. 

 72. That these policies, practices, and customs directly 

and proximately injured Plaintiffs as hereinabove alleged. 

 73. As a result of the foregoing infringement, Plaintiffs 

have been and will continue to be damaged in violation of 42 

U.S.C. § 1983. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to declaratory 

and permanent injunctive relief against continued enforcement 
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and maintenance of Defendants’ unconstitutional customs, 

policies, and practices. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and permanently, 

Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and all 

persons in active concert or participation with them who receive 

actual notice of the injunction, from directly or indirectly by 

any means enforcing or prosecuting all of the provisions of the 

VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE; 

B. awarding Plaintiffs declaratory relief against 

Defendants consistent with the injunction and declaring, inter 

alia, that the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE do 

not constitute reasonable or permissible lawful regulations but, 

rather, is against public policy and violative of the First, 

Second, Fourth, Fifth, Fourteenth Amendments and Due Process and 

takings clauses of the United States Constitution rendering them 

unconstitutional, void ab initio, and unenforceable. 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

D.  awarding Plaintiffs reasonable attorney fees and costs 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY 

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

E.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises. 

EIGHT CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
ANTI-TRUST – UNLAWFUL COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY TO 

RESTRAIN FREE TRADE IN VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1, et. seq. 

74. Plaintiffs, complaining of all Defendants, reallege 

and incorporate paragraphs 1 through 73 of their Seventh Claim, 
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as though fully stated herein. 

75. At all times relevant 15 U.S.C. § 1, et. seq. (the 

“Sherman Antitrust Act”) prohibited "[e]very contract, 

combination or conspiracy in restraint of trade or commerce 

among the several States…"  

76. The Sherman Antitrust Act, is applicable not only to 

the activities of private industry and individuals, but also, 

under the facts set forth above, to those in government, such as 

the Defendants, who by economic regulation, as alleged herein, 

have and continue to unreasonably restrain competition and trade 

that affects interstate affects interstate commerce. 

77. The foregoing act and decisions constitute a 

combination, conspiracy and scheme that through their concerted 

action produced and imposed the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE on the Plaintiffs that constituted and 

continue to constitute ongoing violations of the Sherman 

Antitrust Act that directly caused and continue to cause 

Plaintiffs to suffer lost profits, loss of good will, loss of 

freedom and liberty and other injuries and damages as 

hereinabove alleged and are directly chargeable to the VILLAGE, 

its PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY. 

78. As a result of the foregoing, Plaintiffs have been and 

will continue to be damaged in violation of Sherman Antitrust 

Act, and are therefore entitled to declaratory and permanent 

injunctive relief against continued enforcement and maintenance 

of Defendants’ unconstitutional and illegal customs, policies, 

practices, ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE.  

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and 

permanently, Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and all persons in active concert or participation 

Case: 1:11-cv-03871 Document #: 1 Filed: 06/07/11 Page 33 of 64 PageID #:33



	   34 

with them who receive actual notice of the injunction, from 

directly or indirectly by any means enforcing or prosecuting all 

of the provisions of the VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE; 

B. awarding Plaintiffs declaratory relief against 

Defendants consistent with the injunction and declaring, inter 

alia, that the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE do 

not constitute reasonable or permissible lawful regulations but, 

rather, are preempted by and violative of the Sherman Antitrust 

Act, are against public policy thus rendering them illegal; void 

ab initio, and unenforceable. 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages, and 

prejudgment interest against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES 

and VILLAGE ATTORNEY pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 15; as the proofs 

will show at trial; 

D.  awarding Plaintiffs reasonable attorney fees and costs 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 15, § 4(a) of the Clayton Act; and 

E.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises. 

FIRST PENDANT CLAIM  
FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT  

79. Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1 through 49 of 

their Second Federal Claim by reference, as if fully set forth 

herein. 

80. That by reason of the foregoing Plaintiffs are 

entitled to a judicial declaration of his rights pursuant to 735 

ILCS 5/2-701 and declaratory relief in connection therewith 

because said ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE are 

oppressive, lack lawful or adequate consideration, are illegal, 

against public policy, forced on Plaintiffs and adopted by 
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Defendants in bad faith and are therefore null and void ab 

initio, and unenforceable. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A.  Declaring pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-701 their rights 

and that above-referenced ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED 

ORDINANCE be adjudged and decreed, inter alia, not to constitute 

reasonable or permissible lawful regulations or limitations, but 

rather, to be against public policy and violative of Article I. 

§§ 1, 2, 4, 6, 12, 15, 22, 24, and Due Process, Equal Protection 

and takings clauses of the Illinois Constitution, thus rendering 

them unconstitutional, null and void ab initio, and 

unenforceable; 

B. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and 

permanently, Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of the injunction, from 

directly or indirectly by any means enforcing or prosecuting all 

of the provisions of the VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE; 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

D.  awarding Plaintiffs costs against the VILLAGE, 

PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY; and 

F.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against all Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in 

the premises. 

SECOND PENDANT CLAIM  
RECISSION OF ILLEGAL AND OPPRESIVE CONTRACT 

81. Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1 through 80 of 

their First State Claim by reference, as if fully set forth 
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herein. 

82. That by reason of the foregoing, the ULTRA VIRES 

AGREEMENT was ultra vires, illegal, oppressive, made without 

lawful or sufficient consideration, was against public policy 

and void ab initio. 

83. That by reason of the foregoing Plaintiffs suffered 

and continues to suffer lost profits, loss of good will, and 

damages to be shown at trial. 

84. That by reason of the foregoing Plaintiffs are 

entitled to a judicial declaration decreeing that said Agreement 

is illegal, made without sufficient and lawful consideration and 

is therefore null and void ab initio.  

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAYS that this Court enter a 

judgment in their favor as follows: 

A.  finding and decreeing that the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT 

be adjudged and decreed, inter alia, not to constitute 

reasonable, or permissible lawful regulations or limitations, 

but rather, to be lacking lawful or sufficient consideration, 

oppressive, against public policy and violative of 15 U.S.C. § 

1, et. seq., thus rendering it illegal, null and void ab initio, 

and unenforceable; 

B.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs costs against the VILLAGE, 

PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY; and 

D.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against all Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in 

the premises. 

THIRD PENDANT CLAIM  
FOR INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE  

WITH PROSPECTIVE ECONOMIC ADVANTAGE 
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85. Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1 through 79 of 

their First State Claim by reference, as if fully set forth 

herein. 

86. That Defendants conduct as alleged above constituted 

and continues to constitute a willful and intentional 

interference with their ability to conduct their lawful business 

and engage interstate commerce thereby causing them to have lost 

and continue to lose customers, sales, and the opportunity to 

expand and grow their business and suffer lost profits and other 

injuries and damages to be shown at trial. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAYS that this Court enter a 

judgment in their favor as follows: 

A.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

B.  awarding Plaintiffs costs against the VILLAGE, 

PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY; and 

C.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises. 

FOURTH PENDANT CLAIM  
ULTRA VIRES SPECIAL LEGISLATION 

IN VIOLATION OF THE ILLINOIS CONSTITUTION 

87. Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1 through 79 of 

their First State Claim by reference, as if fully set forth 

herein. 

88. That, the VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED 

ORDINANCE, as alleged above, constituted and continues to 

constitute unconstitutional and ultra vires special legislation. 

89. That, by reason of the foregoing, Plaintiffs suffered 

and continues to suffer damages to be shown at trial. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAYS that this Court enter a 
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judgment in their favor as follows: 

A. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and permanently, 

Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, employees, and all 

persons in active concert or participation with them who receive 

actual notice of the injunction, from directly or indirectly by 

any means enforcing or prosecuting all of the provisions of the 

VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and REVISED ORDINANCE; 

B.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE 

ATTORNEY as the proofs will show at trial; 

C.  awarding Plaintiffs costs against the VILLAGE, 

PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY; and 

D.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises. 

FIFTH PENDANT CLAIM 
UNLAWFUL RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF 

§§ 2 & 4, ARTICLE 1 OF THE ILLINOIS CONSTITUTION 

90. Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1 through 89 of 

their Fourth State Claim by reference, as if fully set forth 

herein. 

91. That, in violation of Illinois Constitution, under 

color of law, the VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE 

ATTORNEY intended to and did deprive Plaintiffs of their state 

constitutional rights and such deprivation was, and continues to 

be imposed in retaliation for Plaintiffs having been persistent 

in their attempt to sign, advertise, promote and identify their 

lawful business. 

92.  The VILLAGE, its PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE 

ATTORNEY did thereby harm and continue to harm Plaintiffs and 

that such harm includes loss of profits, good will and other 

ongoing damages. 
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93. Plaintiffs’ injuries were proximately caused by said 

Defendants’ actions and policy-level decisions, including the 

custom and practice of deliberate indifference and efforts to 

thwart their rights by preventing them from engaging in and 

driving them out of a lawful business licensed by Federal Law. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAYS that this Court enter a 

judgment in their favor as follows: 

A. finding and decreeing that the ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT 

be adjudged and decreed, inter alia, not to constitute 

reasonable, or permissible lawful regulations or limitations, 

but rather, to be lacking lawful or sufficient consideration, 

oppressive, against public policy and violative of the Illinois 

Constitution and public policy, thus rendering it illegal, null 

and void ab initio, and unenforceable;  

B. enjoining and restraining pendent lite and 

permanently, Defendants, their officers, agents, servants, 

employees, and all persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of the injunction, from 

directly or indirectly by any means enforcing or prosecuting all 

of the provisions of the VILLAGE’S ULTRA VIRES AGREEMENT and 

REVISED ORDINANCE; and enjoining and restraining Defendants, 

pendant lite and permanently, from placing any prior restraint 

upon Plaintiffs’ exercise of commercial speech or otherwise 

interfering or preventing Plaintiffs from displaying any 

signage, advertising or identifying or providing commercial 

information in or about their commercial premises promoting or 

relating to their business.  

C. awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

D.  awarding Plaintiffs costs against the VILLAGE, 
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PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY; and 

E.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against all Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in 

the premises. 

SIXTH PENDANT CLAIM -  
COMMON LAW CONSPIRACY  

94. Plaintiffs incorporate paragraphs 1 through 93 of 

their Fourth State Claim by reference, as if fully set forth 

herein. 

95. On information and belief, the PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and 

VILLAGE ATTORNEY, individually and in combination and conspiracy 

with each other, by their concerted actions as set forth above, 

committed the overt acts as hereinabove set forth that caused 

Plaintiffs the loss of liberty and other losses as hereinabove 

described. 

96. That by reason of the foregoing Plaintiffs suffered 

and continue to suffer lost profits, loss of good will and other 

damages. 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFFS PRAY that this Court enter a judgment 

in their favor as follows: 

A.  awarding Plaintiffs their lost profit, loss of good 

will, general, compensatory, economic and punitive damages 

against the VILLAGE, PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY as 

the proofs will show at trial; 

B.  awarding Plaintiffs costs against the VILLAGE, 

PRESIDENT, TRUSTEES and VILLAGE ATTORNEY; and 

C.  granting Plaintiffs such other and further relief 

against Defendants as this Court may deem just and proper in the 

premises. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Plaintiffs hereby requests a trial by jury of all issues 

that may be so triable. 

Dated and filed electronically at Chicago, Illinois using 
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the United States District Court for Northern District of 

Illinois “CM/ECF System” this 7th day of June 2011. 

                          
                   Respectfully submitted, 

                              
TONY KOLE and GHOST INDUSTRIES, LLC,  
Plaintiffs, 

 
 

                        By_/s/ Walter P. Maksym, Jr.____________ 
           WALTER P. MAKSYM, JR., their attorney 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Walter P. Maksym, Jr. 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
2056 N. Lincoln Avenue 
Chicago, IL 60614-4525 
Telephone: (312) 218-4475 
e-mail: wmaksym@gmail.com  
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PLAINTIFF’S RULE 11 CERTIFICATION 

 The undersigned certifies that they are Plaintiffs in that 
above-captioned cause, that they have read the foregoing 
complaint, that to the best of their knowledge, information, and 
belief, formed after reasonable inquiry, it is well grounded in 
fact the same is warranted by existing law or a good-faith 
argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of 
existing law, and that it is not interposed for any improper 
purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or 
needless increase in the cost of litigation and that the 
exhibits attached, if any are true and correct copies of the 
documents they purport to be.  
 
             /s/ Tony Kole ____________________ 

TONY KOLE, individually and as 
President of GHOST INDUSTRIES, LLC  

 
                         

 

ATTORNEY’S RULE 11 CERTIFICATION 

 The undersigned attorney certifies that he has read the 
foregoing complaint, that to the best of his knowledge, 
information, and belief, formed after reasonable inquiry it is 
well grounded in fact the same is warranted by existing law or a 
good-faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal 
of existing law, and that it is not interposed for any improper 
purpose, such as to harass or to cause unnecessary delay or 
needless increase in the cost of litigation.   
 

                                                                         
                    _/s/ Walter P. Maksym, Jr.__________________ 
     WALTER P. MAKSYM, JR., Plaintiffs’ attorney 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Walter P. Maksym, Jr. 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
2056 N. Lincoln Avenue 
Chicago, IL 60614-4525 
Telephone: (312) 218-4475 
e-mail: wmaksym@gmail.com  
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A.

B.

C.

 

Norridge, Illinois, Code of Ordinances >> - REVISED MUNICIPAL CODE >> Chapter 22 - 
BUSINESSES >> ARTICLE VIII. - WEAPONS DEALERS >> 

ARTICLE VIII. - WEAPONS DEALERS* 

State law reference—Weapons, 720 ILCS 5/24-1 et seq. 

Sec. 22-361. - License.

Sec. 22-362. - Report of sale.

 

Sec. 22-361. - License.

Required. It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in the business of selling, or to sell, loan or give 
to any person, within the village, any pistol, revolver, derringer, rifle, shotgun, or other firearm, Bowie 
knife, dirk, air rifle or air gun, or any toy firearms or other toy in the nature of a firearm in which any 
explosive substance can be used, or any weapon of like character, without securing a license so to do 
as provided in this section. 

Application. Any person desiring to sell or offer for sale firearms or other dangerous weapons in the 
village shall make application in writing to the village clerk for a license, which application shall state the 
name of the applicant, the residence and business addresses of the applicant and such other 
information as the village clerk shall desire. 

Revocation. If the board of trustees is satisfied that such applicant has violated any provisions of this 
section, it may revoke the license of such person for the selling of such weapons. In such a case, the 
money paid for such license shall be forfeited to the village, and no other such license shall be issued to 
such licensee for a period of three years thereafter. 

(Code 1972, ch. 7, art. 11, § 3)

Sec. 22-362. - Report of sale.

Every person who is licensed to deal in the deadly weapons described in section 22-389A., shall make 
out and deliver to the chief of police every day before the hours of 12:00 noon, a legible and correct report of 
every sale or gift made under authority of such license during the preceding 24 hours, which report shall 
contain the date of such sale or gift, the name of the purchaser or donee with his address and age, his 
nationality and citizenship, the number, kind, description and price of such weapon, the number of the 
purchaser's permit and the purpose given by such person for the purchase of such weapon, which report shall 
be substantially in the following form: 

Number permit 

Number of weapon 

Name of purchaser 

Address of purchaser 

Citizen or alien 

If alien, name of country subject of 

Age of purchaser 

Kind or description of weapon 

For what purpose purchased 

Price 

If no such sale has been made during the preceding 24 hours, then it shall not be necessary to file the report 
for such period. 

(Code 1972, ch. 7, art. 11, § 3)
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State law reference—Register of sales of concealable firearms required, 720 ILCS 5/24-4. 
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AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE

VILLAGE OF NORRIDGE

&

GHOST INDUSTRIES, LLC

WHEREAS, GHOST INDUSTRIES, LLC ("Ghost") is an Illinois limited liability company

which seeks to operate a business at 7601 W. Montrose Ave, Suite 2 (the "Premises") in the Village

of Norridge, Illinois ("Norridge");

WHEREAS, Ghost wishes to operate as a weapons dealer out of the Premises;

WHEREAS, Norridge has restrictions on the operation of weapons dealers within its

borders in order to safeguard the health and safety of its citizens and their invitees;

WHEREAS, Norridge has enacted an ordinance specifically regulating weapons dealers

conduct in Norridge, which ordinance is codified in Chapter 22, Article VIII of the Norridge Code

of Ordinances 2002, as amended;

WHEREAS, Ghost recognizes Norridge's concerns about weapons dealers and agrees that

the following terms be agreed to in connection with its application for a license to do business as a

weapons dealer in Norridge; and

WHEREAS, Norridge and Ghost agree that the following terms will be applied to any

license to do business as a weapons dealer in Norridge granted to Ghost.

NOW THEREFORE, Norridge and Ghost agree any license granted to Ghost to do

business as a weapons dealer in Norridge be conditioned upon Ghost's compliance with the

following terms at all times:

1. Ghost will not physically deliver any firearm or ammunition to any recipient in the

Premises other than to its President and Owner and to its employees that successfully pass a

Criminal Background Investigation and possess a valid Illinois FOlD card. All deliveries sent from

the Premises shall be by unmarked packaging if the delivery is of a "used" firearm and shall be

delivered in original packaging as provided by the manufacturer, wholesaler, or distributor if it is a

"new" fuearm and be in secure packaging sent via post office or courier to a licensed federal

firearms dealer (FFL);

2. Ghost will not store firearms or ammunition on the Premises overnight or longer

than twelve (12) hours during any day. Additionally, any fiream:s in Ghost's inventory on the

Premises will either be disabled by a locking device made for use on fuearms or secured in a locked

cabinet;

Case: 1:11-cv-03871 Document #: 1 Filed: 06/07/11 Page 49 of 64 PageID #:49



3. Ghost will not maintain a sales or retail display of any fuearms or ammunition on the

Premises;

4. Ghost will not post or erect any exterior signage indicating to the public that its

offices are located on the Premises or indicating the business of Ghost (i.e. weapons sales) and will

limit interior signage to that required by state and federal law. Provided, however, that Ghost will be

allowed to put its name on one or more interior door to Premises;

5. Ghost will ensure that the only authorized person to receive shipments of fuearms

and ammunition on behalf of Ghost will be the President and Owner of Ghost (until Ghost can

afford to employ others that pass a Criminal Background Investigation and any other applicable

requirements of the United States, the state of Illinois, and any other jurisdiction having authority

over the Premises);

6. All officers and employees of Ghost on the Premises will submit to an annual

Criminal Background Investigation at Norridge's expense and will provide Norridge with such

releases as are necessary to effectuate the investigation;

7. Ghost will install and maintain a video surveillance system to record and monitor its

office within the limits of its Lease Agreement for the Premises;

8. Ghost will voluntarily offer its President and all of its employees for a fingerprinting

by the Norridge Police Department at Norridge's expense;

9. Ghost will agree to receive no more than forty (40) long guns or hand guns at the

Premises per month for the first twelve (12) months following the date of this Agreement and the

above-referenced amounts shall increase by ten (10) percent twelve (12) months, and twenty four

(24) months thereafter, and to have no more than twenty (20) fuearms in the Premises at anyone

time;

10. Ghost will agree to receive no more than four thousand (4,000) rounds per month for

the fust twelve (12) months following the date of this Agreement and the above-referenced amounts

shall increase by ten (10) percent twelve (12) months and twenty four (24) months thereafter, and to

have no more than one thousand (1,000) rounds on the Premises at anyone time. Provided,

however, larger quantities (not in excess of the monthly amount) may be on the Premises for no

longer than one (1) hour after they are delivered from the distributor, wholesaler or manufacturer;

11. Ghost will abide by all local, state and federal laws governing its business including, but not
limited to Chapter 22, Article VIII of the Norridge Code of Ordinances - 2002, as may be amended from
time to time.

12. Ghost will allow without prior notice one (1) random and unannounced on-site

inspection of the Premises per month by Norridge inspectors or police at any time during regular

business hours or whenever the Premises are occupied, in each case solely to monitor compliance

with this Agreement. Additionally, Ghost will allow two (2) such on-site inspections per month
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.'

during regular business hours which must be scheduled with Ghost at least twenty-four (24) hours in

advance;

13. Norridge will renew Ghost's License twice annually provided that Ghost remains in

compliance with this Agreement and to exempt Ghost from any change in its business license

ordinances and rules in any amendments Norridge may make to its Code of Ordinances which

directly or indirectly impacts Ghost's business under the Weapons Dealer License granted by

Norridge. In the event that Norridge repeals its Weapons Dealer Ordinance within thirty six months

of the execution of the Agreement, Norridge will exempt Ghost from the repeal during that period;

and

14. In the event that Ghost breaches any of the conditions of this Agreement to do business

as a weapons dealer in Norridge and such breach is not cured within three (3) business days after

Norridge's delivery of written notice to Ghost specifying the breach, its license will become forfeit

and Ghost will cease doing business under that license.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Village and Ghost Industries LLC have caused this

instrument to be executed by their appropriate representatives on the day and year fIrst above

written.

THE VILLAGE OF NORRIDGE, ILLINOIS a municipal corporation

BY:L~~~~~~=.J~L+~Q.--,A~4..L:=-~TillagePresident

Dated:---.Ll'- :30 ..... t D

AITESJ~ \ fl .
By:~~~ Village Clerk

Da:~~oL/D
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GHOST INDUSTRIES, LLC an Illinois Limited Liability Company

~.. 13--
By: /~(

Dated: / I - Z. q- 10

President
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